
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 	 ) 

	

) 	IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS 
COUNTY OF RICHLAND 	 ) 

) 

	

KHADIJAH HAJJAJ and LEON BOLTON, ) 	 SUMMONS 
individually and as a representative of the 
class 

Plaintiff, ) 

) 
vs. 	 1 	 FILE NO. 

EQUIFAX INFORMATION SERVICES, 	) 
LLC 
~ 	 Defendant. ) 

TO THE DEFENDANT ABOVE-NAMED: 

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED and required to answer the complaint herein, a copy of 

which is herewith served upon you, and to serve a copy of your answer to this complaint upon the 

subscriber, at the.address shown below, within thirty (30) days after service hereof, exclusive of the day 

of such service, and if you fail to answer the complaint, judgment by default will be rendered against 

you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 

Columbia, South Carolina 

Dated: May 9, 2018 

s/Matthew A. Nickles 

Plaintiff/Attorney for Plaintiff 

Address: 	RPWB, LLC 
Matthew A. Nickles 
2700 Middleburg Drive, Suite 220 
Columbia, SC 29204 

SCCA 401 (5/02) 
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s 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

COUNTY OF RICHLAND 

KHADIJAH HAJJAJ and LEON 
BOLTON, individually and 
as a representative of the class, 

Plaintiffs, 

V. 

EQUIFAX INFORMATION 
SERVICES, LLC, 

Defendant. 

IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS 
FOR THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

CASE NO.: 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
(JURY TRIAL DEMANDED) 

Khadijah Hajjaj and Leon Bolton ("Plaintiffs"), by and through their attorneys, on behalf 

of themselves and the class set forth below, and in the public interest, brings this Class Action 

Complaint against Equifax Information Services, LLC ("Equifax" or "Defendant"). 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

l. 	This is an action for actual, statutory and punitive damages, costs and attorneys' 

fees brought against Defendant Equifax Information Services, LLC ("Equifax" or "Defendant") 

pursuant to the Fair Credit Reporting Act ("FCRA"), 15 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq. 

2. Before the enactment of the FCRA, inaccurate and misleading information was 

identified as "the most serious problem in the credit reporting industry." 115 Cong. Rec. 2411 

(Jan. 31, 1969). With this problem in mind, Congress enacted the FCRA in 1970 to ensure the 

"confidentiality, accuracy, relevancy, and proper utilization" of credit reports. 	15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681(b). 

3. To accomplish Congress' goals, the FCRA contains a variety of requirements to 

protect consumers, including § 1681 e(b), which is one of the cornerstone provisions of the FCRA. 
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Whenever a consumer reporting agency ("CRA") prepares a consumer report, § 1681 e(b) requires 

the CRA to follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy of the information 

concerning the individual about whom the report relates. 15 U.S.C. § 1681 e(b). This section 

imposes a high, and often disregarded, standard on consumer reporting agencies. See, e.g., Burke 

v. Experian Info. Sols., Inc., 2011 WL 1085874, at *4 (E.D. Va. Mar. 18, 2011) (breaking down 

the requirements of § 1681 e(b), and explaining that "'assure' means 'to make sure or certain: put 

beyond all doubt,"' "`[m]aximum' means the `greatest in quantity or highest degree attainable[,]' 

and `possible' means something `falling within the bounds of what may be done, occur or be 

conceived."' (quoting Webster's Third New International Dictionary 133, 1396, 1771 (1993)). 

4. Equifax is a consumer reporting agency that compiles and maintains files on 

consumers on a nationwide basis. As part of this process, Equifax uses an automated and 

systematic procedure to gather and report derogatory public records in credit reports, such as tax 

liens and judgments. However, Equifax does not follow similar procedures to gather updated 

information about when the tax lien or judgment is released, satisfied, vacated or otherwise 

removed. Equifax's failure to timely gather updated information is a violation of 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681 e(b) because Equifax has not implemented reasonable procedures to ensure the maximum 

possible accuracy in the preparation of the consumer reports that it furnished regarding Plaintiffs 

and the putative class members. 

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiffs are natural persons and "consumers" as defined by § 1681a(c) of the 

FCRA. 

6. Equifax is a foreign limited liability company authorized to do business in South 

Carolina. Equifax is a"consumer reporting agency" as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1681 a(f). Equifax 

ti 
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is regularly engaged in the business of assembling, evaluating, and disbursing information 

concerning consumers for the purpose of furnishing consumer reports, as defined in 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681 a(d), to third parties. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681p and Article V, Section 

1 1 of the South Carolina Constitution. 

8. Pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-7-30(F)(1), venue is proper in Richland County because 

the most substantial part of the alleged act giving rise to the cause of action occurred in this County. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. 	Equifax's Procedures. 

9. Unlike credit accounts, Equifax affirmatively seeks out and purchases public 

records data, including South Carolina tax liens and civil judgments, to include this derogatory 

information in the credit reports it sells. 

10. Equifax proactively gathers and disseminates this derogatory information even 

though there is nothing in the FCRA that affinnatively requires it to do so. 

11. Equifax does not follow reasonable procedures to gather information when the tax 

liens or judgments are released, satisfied, vacated, appealed, or similarly dismissed, with the same 

rigor and process that it employs to gather information initially. 

12. Equifax uses a third party as a vendor to collect information regarding judgments 

and tax liens. 

13. Equifax's vendor was obligated to collect and provide all affirmative tax liens and 

judgments under its contract with Equifax. However, in contrast, the vendor was only obligated 

to collect and provide updates and dispositions if the vendor determined it was "commercially 

3 
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reasonable" to do so. 

14. As a matter of common policy, Equifax and its vendors rarely collect any tax lien 

or judgment disposition information. 

15. In short, Equifax published public records data that it knew would be inaccurate if 

a release, satisfaction, dismissal, vacatur or appeal had occurred—relying on consumers to clean 

up their own files via the dispute process after learning of the inaccuracy, rather than paying to 

have these dispositions collected with the same vigor that it collected records of the initial entry 

of judgment. 

16. As a matter of common practice, Equifax does not routinely collect this information 

even though Equifax has been sued repeatedly for its failure to adopt reasonable procedures to 

timely gather and report updated public record information. See, e.g., Soutter v. Equifax Info. 

Servs., LLC, 307 F.R.D. 183, 191 (E.D. Va. 2015); Ceccone v. Equifax Info. Servs., LLC, 2015 

WL 221720, at * 1(D.D.C. Jan. 15, 2015); Jerman v. Equifax Info. Servs., LLC, Case No. 1:17-cv-

0602 (D. H1. 2017). 

17. The methods and processes used by Equifax to gather releases, satisfactions, 

vacaturs, and dismissals throughout South Carolina was materially the same for the previous five 

years. 

18. At all times pertinent to this Complaint, Equifax's conduct regarding the collection 

of disposition information was willful and carried out in reckless disregard for consumers' rights 

as set forth under the FCRA. By example only, and without limitation, Equifax's conduct is willful 

because it was intentionally accomplished through intended procedures; it had knowledge of its 

violation through other lawsuits in other jurisdictions but it did nothing to rectify the problem in 

South Carolina; and as Equifax's diligence in collecting and reporting derogatory information is 

~ 

4 
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believed by it to be of greater economic value to its paying customers than "disposition" 

information that demonstrated that the debt was no longer owed. 

19. As a result of Equifax's conduct, Plaintiffs and the putative class members suffered 

particularized and concrete injuries, including damages to their reputations, reductions to their 

credit scores, and increased risk of credit denial. 

B. 	Plaintiffs' Experience. 

20. In or around May 17, 2016, Plaintiff Hajjaj's Equifax credit report was procured by 

Federal Financial Services. At that time, a$335.95 tax lien was reported as being recorded in 

Richland County, South Carolina against Plaintiff Hajjaj. 

21. Equifax's reporting of the tax lien was inaccurate and occurred because Equifax 

failed to follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy in the preparation of 

the credit reports it publishes and maintains regarding consumers. 

22. In Plaintiff Hajjaj's instance, if Equifax had followed such procedures, Equifax 

would have reported an update to the public record showing that the tax lien had been satisfied on 

March 18, 2016. 

23. Indeed, the information regarding the release of Plaintiff Hajjaj's tax lien was 

publicly available on the Internet through the database maintained by the South Carolina 

Department of Revenue l —an easily accessible database to Equifax. 

24. However, consistent with its procedures, Equifax made no effort to update and 

correct the tax lien information until Plaintiff Hajjaj disputed the inaccuracy through Equifax's 

dispute process in June 2016. 

25. In or around November 17, 2017, Plaintiff Bolton obtained a copy of his Equifax 

' https://mydorway.dor.sc.gov/_/#3  (last visited May 1, 2018). 

E 
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consumer report. At that time, a$1,945.00 tax lien was reported as being recorded and owing in 

Greenville County, South Carolina against Plaintiff Bolton. 

26. Equifax's reporting of the tax lien was inaccurate and occurred because Equifax 

failed to follow reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy in the preparation of 

the credit reports it publishes and maintains regarding consumers. 

27. In Plaintiff Bolton's instance, if Equifax had followed such procedures, Equifax 

would have reported an update to the public record showing that the tax lien had been satisfied on 

October 14, 2013 

28. Indeed, the information regarding the release of Plaintiff Bolton's tax lien was 

publicly available on the Internet through the database maintained by the South Carolina 

Department of Revenue—an easily accessible database to Equifax. 

29. However, consistent with its procedures, Equifax made no effort to update and 

correct the tax lien information until Plaintiff Bolton disputed the inaccuracy through Equifax's 

dispute process in March 2018. 

30. Equifax published the inaccurate lien information to numerous creditors annually 

between October 2013 and March 2018. For example, in 2017 alone, Equifax published the 

inaccurate lien information to Navy FCU on January 10, 2017; Security Finance on January 11, 

2417, March 7, 2017 and October 16, 2017; to Pioneer Credit on January 1], 2017, June 6, 2017 

and October 5, 2017; Southern Finance Company on March 1, 2017; OneMain on March 23, 2017; 

and CCB/PPC on June 16, 2017. As a result of this negative reporting, Plaintiff Bolton suffered 

actual damages, including but not limited to damage to his credit rating, difficulty obtaining credit, 

aggravation, inconvenience, embarrassment, and frustration. 

rei 
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CLASS. ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

	

31. 	Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs as alleged above 

	

32. 	Plaintiffs bring this action under Rule 23, SCRCP, on behalf of a class defined as 

follows: 

All natural persons about whom Equifax reported within two years prior to 
the filing ofthis Complaint an unpaid South Carolina judgment or lien when 
in fact the judgment or lien had been satisfied more than 30 days before the 
date of Equifax's report. 

	

33. 	Class certification is appropriate under Rule 23, SCRCP. 

	

34. 	Numerosity:  The class is sufficiently numerous. The class is so numerous that 

joinder of the claims of all class members is impractical. The names and addresses of the class 

members are identifiable through documents maintained by Equifax and through publicly available 

records throughout South Carolina. 

	

35. 	Commonality:  This case presents common questions of law and fact, which exist 

for all putative class members, and predominate over any questions affecting only individual 

members. These common questions include but are not limited to: 

a) Whether Equifax adopted procedures that collected and reported updates to liens 

that were less systematic and effective than those it used to initially collect and report the liens; 

b) Whether this conduct constituted a violation of the FCRA; and 

c) Whether the violation was negligent, reckless, knowing, or intentionally committed 

in conscious disregard of the rights of Plaintiffs and the putative class members. 

	

36. 	Typicality:  Plaintiffs' claims are typical of the claims of the class, and all are based 

on the same facts and legal theories. The FCRA violations suffered by Plaintiffs are typical of 

those suffered by other class members, and Defendant treated Plaintiffs consistent with other class 

members in accordance with its standard policies and practices. Plaintiffs, as every putative class 

7 

3:18-cv-01637-JMC     Date Filed 06/14/18    Entry Number 1-1     Page 8 of 11



member, allege a violation of the same FCRA provision, 15 U.S.C. § 1681 e(b). This claim 

challenges the credit reporting procedures of Equifax and does not depend on any individualized 

facts. Upon information and belief, Equifax obtains all of its South Carolina public records under 

the same contract from the same vendor. Equifax's notice and knowledge of the challenged 

reporting problem are the same for Plaintiffs as for the putative class. For purposes of class 

certification, Plaintiffs seek only statutory and punitive damages. Plaintiffs would seek individual 

or actual damages only if class certification is denied. In addition, Plaintiffs are entitled to the 

relief under the same causes of action as the other members of the class. 

37. Adequacx: Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class, 

and have retained counsel experienced in complex class action litigation and actions involving 

unlawful practices against consumers. Neither Plaintiffs nor their counsel have any interests that 

conflict with those of any class members or that might cause them not to vigorously pursue this 

action. Plaintiffs are aware of their responsibilities to the putative class and have accepted such. 

38. The amount in controversy per Plaintiffs and each member of the class exceeds one 

hundred dollars ($100) per person as required by Rule 23(a)(5), S.C.R.C.P. 

CAUSE OF ACTION 
15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) 

39. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs as alleged above. 

40. Equifax violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) by failing to establish or to follow 

reasonable procedures to assure maximum possible accuracy in the preparation of the consumer 

reports it furnished regarding Plaintiffs and the putative class members. 

41. As a result of Equifax's misconduct, Plaintiffs and putative class members suffered 

damages to their reputations, reductions to credit scores, and increased risk of credit denial. 

: 
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42. 	Equifax's violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681e(b) was willful, rendering Equifax liable 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n. In the alternative, Equifax was negligent, entitling Plaintiffs to 

recover under 15 U.S.C. § 1681o. 

43. 	Plaintiffs and the putative class members are entitled to recover statutory damages, 

punitive damages, costs, and attorneys' fees from Equifax in an amount to be determined by the 

Court pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681 n, o. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the class, pray for relief as follows: 

a) Determining that this action may proceed as a class action under Rule 23, SCRCP; 

b) Designating Plaintiffs as representatives for the class and designating Plaintiffs' 

Counsel as counsel for the class; 

c) Issuing proper notice to the class; 

d) A permanent injunction requiring Equifax to: (1) cease reporting inaccurate public 

record information about South Carolina consumers; (2) regularly update the public 

record information it obtains and reports about South Carolina consumers on at 

least a monthly basis; 

e) An award of statutory, actual and punitive damages for Plaintiffs and the class; 

f) An award of pre-judgment and post judgment interest as provided by law; 

g) An award of attorneys' fees and costs; and, 

h) Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiffs demand a jury for all issues so triable. 

9 
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Date: May 9, 2018 
s/Matthew A. Nickles 
RICHARDSON, PATRICK, 
WESTBROOK & BRICKMAN, LLC 
Terry E. Richardson, Jr. (SCB 4721) 
trichardson@rpwb.com  
Matthew A. Nickles (SCB 80364) 
mnickles@rpwb.com  
2700 Middleburg Dr., Suite 220 
Columbia, SC 29204 
Tel.: 803.541.7850 
Fax: 803.541.9625 

BERGER & MONTAGUE, P.C. 
E. Michelle Drake, MN Bar No. 0387366* 
emdrake@bm.net  
John G. Albanese, MN Bar No. 0395882* 
jalbanese@bm.net  
43 SE Main Street, Suite 505 
Minneapolis, MN 55414 
Tel.: 612.594.5999 
Fax: 612.584.4470 
*pro hac vice motions forthcoming 

CONSUMER LITIGATION 
ASSOCIATES, P.C. 
Leonard A. Bennett, VA Bar No. 37523* 
Matthew J. Erausquin, VA Bar No. 65434* 
Elizabeth W. Hanes, VA Bar No. 75574* 
763 J. Clyde Morris Blvd., Suite 1-A 
Newport News, VA 23601 
Telephone: (757) 930-3660 
Facsimile: (757) 930-3662 
Email:  lenbennettAclale ag l.com  
Email: matt@clalegal.com  
Email: elizabeth@clalegal.com  
*pro hac vice motions forthcoming 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS 

n 
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